
UNITED NATIONS 

~-·~· ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL 
934th meeting 

Monday, 16 July 1956 
at 2.30 p.m. ~ ' ~ 

~ ,fl ~-=--
Twenty-second Session 

OFFICIAL RECORDS 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 2: 
World economic situation: 

(a) Survey of the world economic situation including 
the questions of full employment and of 'the expan-

Page 

sion of world trade . . . . . . . . • • . . . . 61 

President: Mr. ENGEN (Norway). 

Present: 

The representatives of the following countries: Argen­
tina, Brazil, Canada, China, Czechoslovakia; Dominican 
Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, France, Greece, Indonesia, 
Netherlands, Norway, Pakistan, Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics, United Kingdom of Great Britain and North­
ern Ireland, United States of America, Yugoslavia. 

Observers from the following countries: Australia, 
Bulgaria, Chile, Costa Rica, Finland, Hungary, Iran, 
Israel, Italy, Poland, Romania, Venezuela. 

The representatives of the following specialized 
agencies: International Labour Organisation, Food and 
Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, United 
Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organiza­
tion, International Bank for Reconstmction and Develop­
ment, International Monetary Fund, Interim Commission 
for the International Trade Organization. 

AGENDA ITEM 2 

World economic situation 
(a) Survey of the world economic situation, including the 

questions of full employment and of the expansion of 
world trade (E/2864, E/2871 and Add.1 to 6, E/2880, 
E/2881, E/2882) 

GENERAL DEBATE 

l. The PRESIDENT recalled the fact that the Council 
had agreed to deal with item 2 of the agenda in two 
parts: it would first (a) survey the world economic 
situation, and then (b) consider the reports of the regional 
economic commissions. 

2. He had great pleasure in welcoming, on behalf of 
the Council, the Secretary-General, who would introduce 
the World Economic Survey 1955 (E/2864). 

3. The SECRETARY-GENERAL, recalling that it was 
ten years since the Council had embarked on the tasks 
laid down in the Charter-, namely, to promote higher 
standards of living, full employment and conditions of 
e~onomic and social progress and development-said the 
time had come to ask to what extent it was possible to 
report success in the advance towards those goals. 

61 

PALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA 

4. The World Economic Survey 1955, which was before 
the Council, was in part an attempt to evaluate the 
economic successes and failures of the post-war period. 
There was much in the record of the past ten years that 
provided legitimate grounds for satisfaction, but some 
of the most important economic problems were almost 
as far from solution as they had been when the Council 
had begun its work. 

5. He did not propose to say more than a few words 
concerning the achievements of the first post-war decade, 
for they were documented in the World Economic Survey 
1955 and the regional economic surveys which were before 
the Council. It was nevertheless appropriate to recall that, 
both in the developed private enterprise economies and 
in the centrally planned economies, pre-war levels of 
per capita production and trade had by now been left 
far behind, and that while part of the rise in output 
had been side-tracked into armaments, a substantial 
margin had nevertheless been available in many areas 
for improvements in present and future levels of living. 

6. In the centrally planned economies, highest priority 
had been given to investment in heavy industry as against 
light and consumer-goods industries and, until recently, 
agriculture. The standard of living had thus risen much 
less than output. With the growing attention now being 
given to agriculture, however, the lag between the rates 
of growth in production and consumption was expected 
to diminish. 

7. In the developed private enterprise economies, a 
significant measure of both economic progress and secu­
rity had been achieved. Defences had been built against 
the waste and misery of economic depression, and ways 
and means had been found in many countries of miti· 
gating economic insecurity. It was true that the strength 
of those defences had yet to be seriously tested, but the 
widespread consciousness of a need in that area and the 
deeper understanding of the economic forces which gave 
rise to that need in themselves represented an impressive 
advance on the groping in the dark of the inter-war years. 

8. He thought it fair to say that the Council had a 
record of positive achievement in that area. It had 
defined the manner in which the full employment obli­
gation to which all nations subscribed in the Charter 
was to be understood, and the nature of the responsi­
bilities which governments had thereby assumed-namely, 
to make legislative and administrative provisions ade­
quate for the attainment of national full employment 
goals. Moreover, the Council had proclaimed the inter· 
national, as well as the national, character of the full 
employment obligation; it had helped towards securing 
recognition of the principle that any country which failed 
to maintain full employment within its own borders by 

E/SR.934 



62 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

that very fact made it more difficult for other countries 
to do so. 
9. If international division of labour raised the produc­
tivity of the world community, it also increased the mutual 
interdependence of its several parts: the economic health 
of each came to depend in significant measure upon the 
well-being of all. When one member contracted the 
disease of unemployment it threatened all others, not 
only because the arteries of international trade became 
constricted, but also because so close was the attune­
ment between members that palpitation in one might 
set off sympathetic vibrations in the others. The Coun­
cil had therefore rightly emphasized the principle that 
each Member State had not only an internal but also 
an international responsibility to maintain conditions 
conducive to the good economic health of the world 
community. 

10. It must be admitted that governments were far from 
agreement on the practical implications of that principle. 
The prolonged success in the industrially developed 
countries of national full-employment policies, combined 
with the unexpectedly mild international repercussions 
of the United States recession of 1953/54, had perhaps 
encouraged a greater degree of complacency than was 
warranted. Nevertheless, it seemed safe to say that 
over a substantial portion of the earth's surface man 
had tested the benefits of rising levels of material welfare 
and had even succeeded in harnessing, to a greater or 
lesser extent, economic forces hitherto regarded as beyond 
his control. 

I I. There were those who had feared, and perhaps still 
feared, that security might be inimical to progress-that 
the whiplash of insecurity was needed to spur mankind on 
to increased effort. No more convincing refutation of 
that !hesis was required than that provided by the 
expcncncc of the past decade. With levels of unemploy­
~ent !hat in the 1930's would have been regarded as 
mcrcd1bly low, economic growth had been accelerated 
rather than stifled. Never in the history of man had his 
economic pulse been so quick, never had there been so 
great a degree of flexibility or so rapid and continuous 
an increase in work efficiency. 

12 .. Unfortunat7ly the achievement in stabilizing the 
nat10nal cconom1cs of the developed countries found no 
parallel in the stabilization of the national economics of 
the under-dcvelo~cd countries. Nor had sufficient pro­
gress been made m stabilizing and integrating the world 
economy as a whole. The world continued to be divided 
into . two economic regions with only marginal trade 
r~la~10ns between them. While world trade had grown 
s1g1111icantly, the flow of international capital had never 
regained its importance of only a generation earlier 
either in relation to trade or in relation to income an<l 
invcst_mcnt. He had dealt with those problems on past 
occasions and they were fully documented in the surveys 
before the Council. He would therefore now confine 
his words to one aspect which caused him great concern 
-namely, the problem of commodity stabilization. 

13. While unemployment had long ceased to be con­
sidered acceptable as the price for keeping an industrial 
economy in balance, the world still did not seem to 
recognize that violent price fluctuations were not essential 

to_ t_he mainten_ance of economic balance in farm and 
mmmg economies. Some degree of price flexibility wa 
of c?urse, necessary to ~ermit the adjustment of co~'. 
I1_10d1ty ~ar_kets to changmg demand and supply condi­
tions. S1milarly, some _degree of _flexibility of manpower 
a_nd r~sources was reqmred to adJust to changing condi­
tions rn ~he economy at large. Nevertheless, just as it 
was realized that mass unemployment introduced not 
flexibility but economic paralysis, so it must be realized 
that the violent price fluctuations which had characterized 
commodity markets were not productive of economic 
balance but rather of economic chaos. One would 
search in vain for any economic purpose that might have 
been served by the price gyrations m coffee and cocoa in 
recent years, and whatever adjustment in raw materials 
demand and supply might have been required during the 
Korean boom and its subsequent collapse could surely 
have been accomplished with price movements only a 
fraction of those actually experienced. 

14. At one time it had seemed to many economists that 
if the problem of stabilizing aggregate effective demand 
in the developed countries could be solved, the task of 
achieving stability in commodity markets would thereby 
be reduced to manageable proportions. Eloquent testi­
mony of the secondary importance attached to the pro­
blem of commodity stability was to be found in the 
economics curriculum of every university: whereas the 
study of effective demand and employment bad every­
where become the central theme of general economic 
analysis, the broad problem of commodity stabiliza­
tion had for the most part received relatively marginal 
attention. 
I 5. One of the most fundamental of the lessons to be 
learned from the economic developments of the past ten 
years, the Secretary-General noted, was that economic 
stability in the highly developed countries was by no 
means a sufficient condition for stability in the demand 
of those countries for primary products. Despite full 
employment and rapid growth in industrial countries, 
few under-developed countries knew from year to year 
where they stood regarding their export incomes 
and their supply of disposable foreign exchange. An 
inventory shift in a particular commodity might be of 
small moment in relation to the total inventory movement 
of a major developed country, and insignificant in relation 
to the aggregate production of that country, but it might 
spell disaster for the short-term, and perhaps even long­
term, plans of the under-developed countries depending 
upon that commodity for the bulk of their foreign 
exchange incomes, and hence for their capacity to import 
development goods. Any unevenness in the advance of, 
say, heavy and light industries, such as had been wit­
nessed recently in the developed countries, might mean 
windfall gains for some primary producers and extra­
ordinary losses for others. 
16. Nor could the gains of the fat years always be offset 
against the losses of the lean years. The lean years were 
likely to bring difficulties and discouragement and to 
impede the drawing up of development plans and pro­
grammes, both private and public. In that case, the 
advent of better times might find countries ill-equipped 
and ill-prepared to take advantage of the improvement 
in their situation, and the new resources might be 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 63 

dissipated on luxury imports. Moreover, the cycle of 
commodity prices was not necessarily superimposed upon 
any stable long-term trend; fluctuations in commodity 
prices were so irregular that there could be no assurance 
that the gains were cancelled out by the losses over any 
reasonable period. Indeed, violent price fluctuations in 
themselves exerted an adverse long-term effect upon 
commodity markets; the fat years were likely to be 
swallowed up by the increasingly lean years as the gyra­
tions in prices encouraged industrial countries to strive 
for growing self-sufficiency. 
17. There was no magic formula for solving the problem 
of commodity price stability. No amount of searching 
would yield a formula applicable in all circumstances. 
He was convinced, however, that the inability to make 
any serious headway with that problem constituted one 
of the greatest weaknesses in the fabric of international 
economic co-operation at the present time. While the 
commodity problem might be ancillary to the broad 
problem of economic stability in the highly developed 
countries, it could not be regarded as of secondary 
importance from the standpoint of the world at large; 
the vast majority of mankind still earned its living in 
primary rather than industrial production. It would be 
dangerous to under-estimate the difficulties attached to 
the problem of commodity stabilization. The root of 
those difficulties lay in the wide fluctuations in demand, 
especially for inventories, and in the yield of agricultural 
production, coupled with the extremely low price 
elasticities of both demand and supply for most primary 
products. Despite all efforts, both national and inter­
national, the practical means for increasing those elastici­
ties or offsetting their effects on prices remained a baffling 
problem. In important respects, that problem was even 
more difficult than that of stabilizing employment. 
18. Since the labour market was predominantly national 
in character, the main requirement for stabilizing em­
ployment was an appropriate national policy for full 
employment; what was required at the international level 
was that each country should keep reasonably in step 
with the others and not seek to solve its unemployment 
problem at the expense of others. Provided that was 
done, there was no conflict of national interests regarding 
the maintenance of full employment; all countries shared 
a common interest in its maintenance all over the world. 
Commodity markets, however, were in essence inter­
national rather than national; no nation, no matter how 
strong, was likely to prove adequate by itself in the task 
of price stabilization. National action must therefore be 
supplemented by, and indeed undertaken in, a framework 
of international policy if it was really to succeed. At 
the international level, however, the difficulties of recon­
ciling the short-term interests of producing and con­
suming nations had proved a powerful obstacle to action 
despite the long-term benefits to be derived by all nations 
alike. 
19. That was not, of course, to overlook the fact that 
inter-governmental arrangements with limited price ranges 
were now in operation for wheat, sugar and tin and that 
price fluctuations in those commodities had been reduced 
in more recent years. It was also pleasing to note that 
an agreement-which, however, awaited the signature of 
sufficient governments to bring it into force-had been 

reached on olive oil, thereby demonstrating that the pre­
sent machinery could be used effectively for commodities of 
lesser importance in total world trade but of vital concern 
to particular regions. Even so, it had taken almost a 
decade to arrive at those four agreements only; greater 
interest must surely be shown if substantial progress was 
to be made through the commodity~by-commodity 
approach which so many governments favoured. 
20. It was the absence of a framework of international 
policy that compelled the under-developed countries each 
to seek its own salvation in its own way without reference 
to wider horizons. How often had not complaints been 
voiced that one under-developed country was moving 
along the slippery path to autarky, that another was 
neglecting its exports, whether agricultural or mineral, 
or that yet a third was manipulating its exchange rates in 
a manner contrary to the letter and spirit of the Bretton 
Woods agreements ? Yet how many of those who 
criticized the under-developed countries in that fashion 
had given adequate thought to the structure of world 
economic relationships which had forced those countries 
into unorthodox patterns of behaviour? 
21. At the present session, the Council was debating 
one notable proposal with a significant bearing on com­
modity stabilization-the proposal for a world food 
reserve (agenda item 7)-and in the past it had ranged 
over the whole gamut of international measures, from 
individual commodity agreements through buffer stocks 
to commodity currency proposals. So far, however, 
disappointingly little progress had been recorded. He 
had no desire to minimize the difficulties and complexities 
in that area, but he felt obliged to express his firm con­
viction that much more could be done than had so far 
been accomplished. Surely a great deal more had been 
achieved towards economic development in other, and 
no less difficult, directions. Only a generation earlier 
it would have been inconceivable that the nations of 
the world should embark upon a collective programme 
of technical and financial assistance to under-developed 
countries. Yet that programme was now a living reality. 
What goodwill and understanding had accomplished 
in establishing a foundation for international aid they 
could achieve also in laying the groundwork for stabiliz­
ing the trade of under-developed countries. If peoples 
and governments would come to understand that com­
modity stabilization was not merely a narrow matter of 
price haggling between producers and consumers, but was 
a problem of eliminating the wild fluctuations which beset 
the economies of under-developed countries, he had no 
doubt that ways and means would be found for its 
solution. In the light of the fact that both the. Food 
and Agriculture Organization and the Contracting 
Parties to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 
were working in that field and that there was a Commis­
sion on International Commodity Trade as well as an 
Interim Co-ordinating Committee for International 
Commodity Arrangements, it seemed to him that it was 
not so much new machinery that was required as proper 
education and goodwill, both of the public and of 
governments, to co-ordinate and utilize more effectively 
the machinery which already existed. 
22. He did not wish to imply that commodity stabili­
zation was an all-sufficient answer to economic develop-



64 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

ment. No matter what successes might be achieved in 
stabilizing commodity earnings, primary production 
alone could not be relied upon to close the gap in per 
capita incomes between the developed and the under­
developed areas. That was not just because the extent 
of the gap depended partly upon the long-run terms of 
trade rather than merely on short-term fluctuations 
around the trend. The problem lay deeper than that: 
it had its roots in the world structure of demand. It 
was true that, with the growth of output and incomes 
of industrial countries, the demand for primary products 
might be expected to rise, but experience over a long 
period showed that that rise was far from proportional. 
Even if supplies of primary products were to keep pace 
with the demand and the terms of trade were to remain 
unchanged, the growth of income earned in primary 
production would lag considerably behind the growth 
in income of industrial countries. As was demonstrated 
in the World Economic Survey 1955, the growth of total 
output in the under-developed countries had lagged 
behind that of the developed countries, not because of 
lesser progress in each of the major sectors of produc­
tion taken separately, but because agriculture, which 
accounted for a much higher proportion of the total in 
under-developed countries, had almost everywhere ex­
panded at a much lower rate than manufacture. 

23. If the under-developed countries were even to main­
tain, let alone increase, their relative share of the world's 
total output, they could not rely exclusively on expanded 
exports of primary products to industrial countries, but 
must embark upon a programme of broad economic 
development. The under-developed countries, with their 
very low productive capacities, could not, of course, 
hope to match the absolute growth of the developed 
countries; in absolute terms, the gap in per capita incomes 
between them must be expected to continue to widen in 
the foreseeable future. What was disappointing, how­
ever, was that, even in percentage terms, the under­
developed countries had failed to match the rate of growth 
in per capita income of the industrial countries since 
before the war. In view of the very much lower levels 
from which the percentage changes were calculated in 
the case of the under-developed countries, a reasonable 
target for economic development should at least provide 
for a higher percentage rate of growth in the under­
developed than in the developed countries. Otherwise 
it would be impossible ever to increase the share of the 
under-developed countries in the distribution of the per 
capita income of the world. That the target had not 
yet been reached merely emphasized how great was the 
need for intensified efforts, both national and inter­
national, to speed the process of economic development. 

24. He said that if he did not speak about international 
aid, it was only because in that area the Council had at 
least laid a foundation on which it was possible to build. 
International aid, however generous and unselfish it might 
be, could never be an adequate substitute for stable and 
growing export earnings. Even in highly prosperous 
times, the year-to-year fluctuations in commodity 
earnings frequently cancelled out several times over the 
total international assistance which a country might be 
receiving from all sources. It was enough to realize that 
a change of only 5 per cent in average export prices was 

approximately equivalent to the entire annual inflow of 
private and public capital and g~vernment grants to 
under-developed countries. Essential as it was to ex­
pand inte;nati?nal financial aid in all its forms-private 
and public, bilateral and multilateral-highest priority 
must be given to expanding the trade of the under­
developed countries, not only because of its significance 
as the preponderant factor in economic development, but 
because trade was after all the best form of aid. 

25. ~r .. MYRDAL (Executive Secretary, Economic 
Comm1ss1on for Europe) said that the two main docu­
ments prepared by the secretariat of the Economic 
Commission for Europe (ECE) as background material 
for the discussion were the Economic Survey of Europe 
in 1955 (E/ECE/235 and Corr. I & 2), and the latest 
Economic Bulletin for Europe, published in May 1956. 
In accordance with its usual practice, the ECE secretariat 
had tried in the Survey not only to review developments 
in the European economy during the last year, but also 
to draw attention to certain long-term problems which 
were both important and topical and immediately relevant 
to the policies at present pursued by the governments in 
the region. In view of that, the Survey placed special 
emphasis on investment problems and policies. 

26. In western Europe, despite the steady growth in 
output in recent years, fears of price inflation or of 
balance-of-payments difficulties had begun to revive 
towards the end of 1955. In a few countries governments 
faced with the problem of dealing with an excess pressure 
of demand had been able to plan to case the pressure by 
takings steps to encourage a larger volume of imports. 
The balance-of-payments situation of many countries of 
western Europe, however, was not so favourable as to 
make that course practicable, and for them the problem 
was one of taking steps to restrain the rate of growth of 
total demand. The question was always how best to 
strike the right balance between the long-term claims of 
investment to provide the basis of future economic 
growth, and the immediate demands of consumers for 
higher living standards. 
27. In the countries of eastern Europe and in the Soviet 
Union a high rate of investment had long been a basic 
premise of economic planning, and their rates of develop­
ment had been, and were, more rapid than elsewhere. 
There also, however, similar questions of the right balance 
between the claims of investment and of consumption 
on limited resources had become not merely matters of 
urgent concern to governments but also the subject of 
increasingly open discussion. In that connexion he 
would like to say how much the ECE secretariat welcomed 
the increased flow of information on economic develop­
ment in th-:: USSR and eastern Europe and the prospect 
of still more information in the future. The freer 
exchange of ideas between governments and between 
economists in the East and West of Europe, which now 
seemed to be a real possibility, could not fail to benefit 
all concerned and to further the aims of the Economic 
and Social Council and of the United Nations generally. 

28. In the latest Economic Bul!eti11 for Europe the ECE 
secretariat had tried to bring its analysis of current 
economic trends in Europe more or less up to date. 
Since the publication of the Bulleti11, the European 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 65 

economy had continued to develop very much on the 
lines foreseen: the expansion of output had continued 
in most countries, but at a rather slower rate, and in 
some countries demand threatened to grow more rapidly 
than output. The crucial problem occupying the atten­
tion of many western European governments was still 
that of restraining inflationary tendencies; eastern Europe 
was faced with a similar problem, though in a different 
form-namely, how to satisfy the desire of the people for 
higher standards of living, after long years of sacrifice 
and efforts, without paying too high a price in the form 
of reductions in the investment which was essential for 
continued progress. 

29. At its twentieth session (871st meeting) he had drawn 
the attention of the Council to the rising demands o( 
defence programmes. He had pointed out that they cons­
tituted the main obstacle to a more rapid growth of civilian 
consumption and investment in the countries of both 
parts of Europe, on whose overstrained economies even 
the short-term effect of disarmament would be very 
salutary. Although defence expenditure now appeared 
to have passed its peak in most countries, the claims of 
defence were still a heavy burden on Europe's resources. 
The reduction of that burden was essentially a political 
problem, but no economist could fail to be impressed 
by the obvious economic advantages to all countries that 
such a reduction would confer and by the contribution 
such a reduction could make to the solution of the most 
immediate of the economic problems now confronting 
governments everywhere-namely, the problems of an 
overstrained economy, of inflationary pressure, and of 
threatened bottlenecks in production. 

30. The Secretary-General had referred to the problems 
created for the under-developed countries by the violent 
fluctuations that had occurred in recent years in the 
prices of primary products, which provided the greater 
part of their export incomes and, in that connexion, had 
also considered the question of price-trends. At the 
twentieth session (871 st meeting) of the Council he 
himself had pointed out that the countries of western 
Europe were steadily becoming more able to relax their 
restrictions on dollar imports and that that development, 
~ood as it was in itself, was having a grave effect on the 
import demands of western European countries from 
the under-developed countries. In the Economic Sun•cy 
of Europe in 1955, it was pointed out that the economic 
expansion of Europe that had been taking place over 
the last few years appeared to have been of little benefit 
to the prim~ry producing countries, especially those 
that were mainly dependent on exports of agricultural 
products. The World Economic S11rrcv 1955 too drew 
attention to the same trend. Imports into \;cstcrn 
Europ~ from the countries mainly dependent on exports 
of agncultural products had scarcely increased from 1954 
to 1955 and that trend was still continuing. 

31_. There appeared to be three main reasons for the 
f~tlure of E~ropean_ imports of agricultural products to 
nse, even with rap1_dly growing industrial production. 
~wo of t~cm were, tn themselves, a matter for satisfac­
lton: the mcrcasing multilatcralism of western European 
tra_d_e, and the technical progress reflected in the increased 
ab_ihty to produce substitute synthetic materials. The 
third reason was the growth of western Europe's own 

food production, often behind protective barriers. 
Those develo~ments l~id on all countries an obligation 
to do everythmg possible to offset the inevitable diffi­
culties involved for the under-developed countries. The 
Economic Survey of Europe in 1955 drew attention to some 
of the undesirable consequences that might follow for west­
ern Europe if the export income and import capacity of 
the primary producing countries did not grow with the 
~ising export capacity _of wes~er~ European industry, and 
it suggested that the mdustnahzed countries of western 
Europe should, in their own interests, be prepared to 
relax protective barriers against imports of those products 
which the under-developed countries could produce 
relatively cheaply. In several of its studies over the past 
few years, the ECE secretariat had drawn attention to 
that same problem of interest conflicts, not only between 
western Europe and the whole of the under-developed 
world, but also between the richer north-western part of 
Europe and the poorer southern part. 
32. The problem had an entirely different configuration 
in the USSR and the eastern European countries, which 
were already showing signs of offering an expanding 
market for the foods and materials of the primary produc­
ing countries and of developing a complementary export 
trade in machinery and other manufactured goods; for 
various reasons they were able to plan their trade in that 
way. That trade was, however, still very limited in size 
and distribution compared with the great traditional 
trade between western European countries and the 
primary producers. 
33. He was conscious of another potential threat to the 
development of trade, on a mutually beneficial basis, 
between western Europe and the primary producing 
countries. It would be disastrous if the inflationary 
pressures at present disturbing so many western European 
countries were to lead to the development of serious 
balance-of-payments difficulties, and perhaps to a retreat 
by those countries into new policies of protection and 
import restrictions. That had not happened so far; 
indeed, some countries were trying to lessen internal 
inflationary pressures by admitting imports more freely 
than before. He hoped that the Council would agree 
that it was of the greatest importance that all countries, 
and particularly the developed countries, should feel the 
obligation to continue to deal with their domestic diffi­
culties as far as possible by measures which were not 
liable to impede the growth of world trade and in_comes 
in the primary producing countries as well as rn the 
industrialized areas. 

34. Mr. LOKANATHAN (Executive Secretary, Econo­
mic Commission for Asia and the Far East) said that 
economic development in Asia and the Fa~ East had 
reached a critical stage at which the opportunity for, and 
possibility of, further advance depended at leas~ as much 
on international action and ctTort as on natwnal an_d 
domestic ctTort. At the eleventh session of the E~onomtc 
Commission for Asia and the Far East (ECAFE), Ill _19_55, 
some of the more developed countries in the Comnuss10n 
had stated that the development of the under-developed 
countries of Asia was a joint responsibility and that the 
more advanced countries should assist. Th~ extent_ to 
which that lofty principle was translated mto a~tl~n 
would determine the march of the peoples of Asta m 



66 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

their struggle to raise their standards of living and to 
increase their prosperity. 

35. Within the last few years a social and political 
climate that was most favourable to economic develop­
ment had evolved in the countries of the ECAFE region. 
Almost every government in the region had assumed 
direct responsibility for the economic and social welfare 
of its people, who in turn had come to judge the perfor­
mance of their governments by their success in promoting 
economic development and industrialization. Asia 
appeared to have emerged from a period of stagnation 
and to be ready for a decisive march towards more rapid 
development. 

36. For the first time an effort had been made in the 
Economic Survey of Asia and the Far East 1955 1 to 
review the economic progress achieved in the post-war 
period. Despite the limitations of statistical data and 
the reservations regarding their value, all the available 
evidence pointed to a rate of economic growth which in 
many cases had surpassed the rate of population growth; 
that development had inspired the governments and 
p~oples of the countries of the region with confidence, 
with the result that efforts had been made to accelerate 
development and deal with population pressures. The 
degree of progress should not, of course, be exaggerated. 
Agricultural production, the mainstay of life in the 
region, was still substantially below pre-war levels on a 
per capita basis for the region as a whole, and, of the 
nine countries whose aggregate estimates for their do­
mestic production had been reviewed, only four, with a 
combined population of less than 140 million, appeared 
to show an upward trend of more than 3 per cent per 
annum on a per capita basis. Increases in industrial 
production, substantial though they were, had not been 
enough to bring about an appreciable increase in total 
domes!ic production, owing to the heavy preponderance 
of agncultural production in the region. Furthermore, 
economic growth had not kept pace with that in indus­
trial countries; indeed, the gap between them was be­
coming wider. The fact that it was not enough for the 
countries of the region to attain the same rate of growth 
as that of industrial countries, but that they needed to 
achieve a much greater rate, was a matter which had 
not so far received adequate attention. 

37. What was significant, however, was that the coun­
tries of the ECAFE region were moving forward and 
were determined to move faster. It was in that context 
that the United Nations, and particularly the Economic 
and Social Council, would have a determining influence 
in raising standards of living in the region. 

38. The Secretary-General had focused attention on 
th7 question of securing greater stability of prices of 
primary products, a problem which had been the subject 
of debate at every ECAFE session so far. At the 
meeti1~g of the Working Party on Economic Develop­
ment m November 1955 there had been unanimity among 
all the country experts that the avoidance of economic 
instability was essential for sustained economic growth. 
No appreciable remedial measures were yet in sight, but 
in the meantime it should surely be possible to explore 

1 United Nations Publications, sales number: 1956.11.F.I. 

the possibilit~ of giving countries which depended upon 
exports_ of primary products a guarantee against the loss 
of foreign exchange. What they needed was some assu­
rance that ~hey could go for:Yard with their programmes 
of econom~c developn:ient without the fear of having to 
reduce their !?ace owmg to sharp falls in their foreign 
~xchang_e earmngs. S_uch an action could be truly termed 
mte~national economic co-operation, and the sacrifices 
entailed wo~ld not be heavy, for losses of foreign ex­
change earnmgs by the under-developed countries should 
have been accompanied by gains to the developed coun­
tries as purchasers of primary products. 

39. The future terms of trade were not the only cause 
of concern to the countries of the region: there was also 
the question of foreign aid and foreign financial flows. 
It was easy to criticize the under-developed countries for 
not making greater efforts to earn foreign exchange or 
to mobilize more domestic savings. They were· working 
towards that end, but the mobilization of domestic 
resources was not a purely economic problem; it was 
complicated by social, political and administrative aspects. 
Even countries which were familiar with the methods of 
raising more resources found it difficult to implement 
measures because of the social and economic pattern of 
society. Again, efforts to promote export trade came up 
against basic structural difficulties. It was through no 
fault of their own that the countries exporting primary pro­
ducts had not managed to achieve the same proportionate 
increase in foreign trade as had the more developed 
countries. For example, while world exports had risen 
by 6 per cent between 1951 and the first half of 1955, 
the exports of countries in the ECAFE region had 
declined by 21 per cent. Those countries recognized 
that highest priority should be given to the problem of 
increasing foreign exchange and that efforts should be 
concentrated on the promotion of export industries or 
of those whose products could replace imports. They 
had, however, embarked on their programme of indus­
trialization and development under a heavy handicap; 
they had to import technology and to import capital 
goods, and they could not pay for those imports by 
means of exports from current production. 
40. The world must therefore realize that neither the 
supply of domestic capital, now existing or potentially 
realizable under present institutional arrangements and 
economic conditions, nor the amount of foreign exchange 
likely to be earned by any amount of effort, would be 
adequate to allow even a moderate rate of growth. 
Financial assistance was needed, and the extent to which 
it was provided would determine the trend of progress 
in the ensuing years. The under-developed countries 
needed some assurance that finance would not be allowed 
to limit their development and that their own national 
efforts would be matched by a guarantee of international 
assistance. That was the challenge to the United 
Nations, a challenge which could not be escaped. 

41. The countries of the ECAFE region were trying, 
in a number of ways and with varying degrees of success, 
to deal with the difficult external and internal factors 
over which they had no effective control. The recogni­
tion that capital and foreign exchange were the most 
scarce factors, and that manpower was the most impor­
tant under-utilized resource, had led to a pattern of 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 67 

economic development that would open a new chapter in 
the history of the development of the world. Many 
schemes which required large capital outlay had been 
relegated to a lower order of priority in favour of those 
which could employ a number of workers, for not only 
did that mean a saving in capital, but the increased 
employment was a great social gain. Unemployment 
and under-employment were the inheritance of the under­
developed countries, making the creation of employment 
opportunities a major objective in most countries of 
Asia. In countries as diverse as Japan, India and Indo­
nesia, for example, the full-employment level of national 
income was regarded as the major determinant of their 
development programmes. Pursuit of the same objective 
had also resulted in a deliberate policy of fostering the 
development of cottage and small-scale industries, which 
needed less capital and more organization and could 
absorb a substantial volume of manpower. 
42. In pursuing that objective, the countries were 
conscious of the need for sacrifice; raising the level of 
employment, increasing investment in village industry 
and in community development projects might entail 
the postponement of investment in basic industries, as 
well as delay in taking advantage of new technologies 
and the perpetuation of uneconomic units of production. 
43. There were other problems, some of which the coun­
tries of the region could and should solve: for example, 
the continual inflationary, and less often deflationary, 
pressures in the economy. The source of inflationary 
pressures was often external; in some cases it was the 
inflexible military and other non-developmental expen­
diture, leading to budgetary deficits, while in others it 
was their own development efforts and programmes. 
Few of the countries had been wholly successful in deve­
loping and diversifying their economics sufficiently to 
strengthen the resistance to inflationary and deflationary 
pressures from abroad and from within; they were, 
however, seeking to control such pressures by flexible 
export duties, marketing boards and fiscal and tax 
policies, as well as by their monetary policies. 
44. One of the most hopeful clements in the economic 
situation of the region had been the thinking and effort 
that had g~ne to the establishment of planning machinery 
and pl~nmng schemes. The plans varied from mere 
express10ns of objectives and desires to the establishment 
of _d~tailed development programmes and investment 
P';)hcies, especially in the public sector. Jn some coun­
t~i~s P!anning was limited to the establishment of prio­
ntles m development expenditure, while in others it 
had developed into an over-all planning of investment, 
employment and production. Whatever the differences 
howeve_r, the public wci:c always sharers in the great 
ent~rpnse a~d. _they recognized that it was primarily 
their respons1b1hty to reach the targets set in the plans. 
45.. The _economics of the countries of the ECAFE 
re.!p0 n, w11_h . the exception of mainland China, were 
neither socialist nor capitalist. Indeed, for many years 
to come_ they could not help remaining the sort of mixed 
economies which they were at present. The shortage 
of ent~eprcneurs and entrepreneur talent had necessarily 
led to ,he acceptance of entrepreneur functions by govern­
ments and government agencies. The widening public 
sector must therefore be accepted as part of the economic 

system of Asia, although most countries were anxious 
to ~trengthen and develop private initiative and were 
takmg steps to secure an adequate supply of business 
talent and ability. 

46. Altogether a great deal was happening in the under­
developed countries of Asia and th\! Far East to inspire 
hope and confidence, but more international help was 
necessary if progress was not to be arrested. He would 
therefo~e conclude by asking the same question as that 
asked m the World Economic Survey 1955: whether 
the scope and scale of present programmes and assistance 
represented the world's optimum contribution towards 
the achievement of the accepted objective. 

47. Mr. PREBISCH (Executive Secretary, Economic 
Commission for Latin America) said that the main 
problem of economic development in the Latin American 
countries was how to provide for capital formation in 
order to increase income per head. As the report of 
the Economic Commission for Latin America (ECLA) 
(E/2883) had shown, there were many economic and 
social forces hindering such capital formation, which was 
essential for economic progress. Consequently a new 
combination of economic forces must be found to permit 
a higher rate of development by means of increased 
capital formation. That could not result from the normal 
action of economic forces; concerted national and inter­
national action was thus essential. 

48. At the moment there was nothing to suggest that 
the rate of capital formation could be speeded up suffi­
ciently to expedite economic development. The illusions 
of the immediate post-war period had vanished, and it 
was now clear that the increase which had occurred at 
one time had been due to the temporary improvement in 
exchange rates. The collapse of those rates, and the 
constant pressure· of consumer demand characteristic of 
countries in process of development, had once more 
slowed down capital formation. · 

49. A substantial increase in exports would undoubtedly 
help to create more favourable conditions for speeding 
up capital formation, to which the present limited import 
opportunities were one of the greatest obstacles. During 
the last few years there had been some favourable signs. 
The Latin American countries were realizing more 
clearly the serious mistake they had made in maintaining 
too high an exchange rate and attempting to control the 
prices of primary commodities to give consumers tem­
porary satisfaction. Policy in that respect was now 
changing and some improvements were already apparent 
as the result of the steps taken to remove the obstacles 
to increased exports. 
50. The Latin American countries were trying to carry 
out a policy which would promote their exports, but in 
his opinion such a policy could no longer have the same 
effect as in the past on their development. Indeed, a 
number of factors were tending to slow down the rate of 
exports and keep it below the level essenti~I for speedier 
economic development, the need for which had been 
stressed by the Secretary-General in his. statem~nt: In 
that connexion he wished to point out that ma prehmmary 
report on trade opportunities open to the Latin Americ~n 
countries the Executive Secretary of the Economic 
Commission for Europe had reached the conclusion that 



68 Economic and Social Council - Twenty~second Session 

western Europe could absorb very little of the agricultural 
output of Latin America, particularly cereals and meat. 
Similar conclusions were suggested by the rise in produc­
tion due to higher productivity or the increasing replace­
ment of natural commodities by synthetic products, or 
the tendency for the European countries to develop their 
own agriculture sufficiently to cover all their needs. The 
possibility of developing markets outside western 
Europe should be carefully studied. He proposed to 
revert to that question when ECLA's programme of 
work was discussed. 

51. In view of those prospects, the economic expansion 
of the Latin American countries would require structural 
changes in their economies. As the Commission's report 
had endeavoured to show, industrialization was essential 
to their development. But industrialization called for a 
considerable flow of capital and tc::hnicians from other 
countries, and during the last ten years, as the Sccrctary­
Gcneral 's report had emphasized, the influx of foreign 
capital had not been sufficient to meet the requirements 
of economic development; that was one of the major 
problems. 

52. The only conclusion was that the economic develop­
ment of the countries of Latin America had so far 
remained purely theoretical. The problems and the 
changes required in the economic structure of the various 
countries were much better understood than they had 
been ten years earlier. Some valuable experiments had 
already been carried out, for instance in technical assis­
tance and in the improvement of production methods, 
and had shown the ever-growing importance of planning 
economic development. Such planning was not in­
consistent with the free interplay of economic forces. 
Furthermore, it was being realized to an ever greater 
extent that inflation could not assist economic develop­
ment or serve in any way as an instrument of social policy 
in countries undergoing such development. 

53. Those were principles on which no doubt an 
intelligent policy of economic development could be 
based, but if serious economic and social tension was to 
be averted it must be realized that everything so far had 
been but a preliminary phase. ECLA must continue 
to play its proper role, which was both a theoretical and 
a practical one. 
54. He hoped to be able to make a few comments on 
the work of the Commission when the reports of the 
regional economic commissions were discussed. 

55. Mr. ASMAUN (Indonesia) thanked the Secretary­
General for his excellent introduction and the executive 
secretaries of the regional economic commissions for 
their clear accounts of the economic situation in di!Tercnt 
regions. His delegation was also grateful for the com­
prehensive reports prepared by the Secretariat. 

56. As it was the Council's aim to exchange views in 
order to achieve a better understanding and, if possible, 
to solve the economic and financial problems atnicting 
different parts of the world, and to consider ways of 
encouraging economic co-operation, he wished to com­
ment on some recent economic developments, particularly 
those a!Tccting the less developed countries, which had 
been carefully analysed in the World Economic Survey 
1955. 

57. In 1955, trends in the highly industrialized countries 
had ?een fav~urable. Economic activity had increased 
cons1~erably m E~ropc, and in the United States of 
America the recess10n that had persisted from mid-1953 
to mid~l954 had ~ive~ way to a further upward trend. 
Industrial product10n m the United States of America 
western Europe and the Soviet Union had increased 
by 11, 9 and 12 per cent respectively. Given the eco­
nomic interdependence of the modern world, a favourable 
business cycle in highly industrialized countries had also 
an impact on the less developed, for it stimulated demand 
for raw materials, of which the latter were the main 
producers. They would have benefited even more if 
they could have fully used their improved foreign ex­
change earnings for the purchase of capital goods. 
However, the increase in their purchasing power had not 
kept pace with the increase in production in the indus­
trialized countries. It would therefore be desirable to 
facilitate the purchase of capital or consumer goods 
through medium-term and long-term credit arrangements, 
which would also be advantageous to industrialized 
countries by providing outlets for their manufactured 
goods or surplus commodities. 

58. Under-developed countries were also unable to take 
advantage of the prosperity of industrialized countries 
for other reasons than their low purchasing power. 
First, being specially exposed to the hazards of the 
weather, they were sometimes obliged to spend large 
amounts of foreign currency on imports of food, and 
secondly, many of them were faced with large budget 
deficits, which were an obstacle to monetary equilibrium, 
led to high costs and therefore prevented steady progress. 
Nevertheless, their situation would be even worse if that 
of the highly industrialized countries, which affected them 
so greatly, were to deteriorate. A striking example of 
that fact had been the effect of the recent recession in the 
United States automobile industry on the rubber market, 
the principal source of Indonesia's foreign exchange 
earnings. Another example of a different kind was the 
existence of agricultural surpluses in the United States 
of America which, although made available on advan­
tageous terms, were in themselves an unhealthy pheno­
menon which could not fail to have repercussions on the 
normal market conditions of other food-producing 
countries. 
59. One of the weaknesses of the economic situation of 
western European countries was their high rate of produc­
tion. For example, in the United Kingdom only 1 per 
cent of the total labour force had been unemployed in 
July 1955, a figure representing less than half the number 
of available vacancies; the result had been pressures 
causing inflationary tendencies. The same was true, 
to a lesser extent, of the Scandinavian countries, Belgium, 
the Netherlands, Luxembourg and Switzerland. In 
addition to the problem of over-employment, the countries 
of that area had their bal.incc-of-payments and dollar 
problems, the latter being temporarily concealed owing to 
high dollar earnings arising out of defence requirements. 
60. Some eastern European countries seemed to be 
experiencing manpower difficulties, due to efforts to 
diversify their industry, which ought, in part at least, to 
be alleviated by the reductions in the armed forces. 
They were also encountering some agricultural problems. 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 69 

61. One trend in the highly industrialized countries, 
which was being watched with some concern because of 
its repercussions on the position of the less developed 
countries, and particularly its adverse effect on their 
exports, was the decline in the consumer-goods sector 
and the shift to heavy basic industries: the more so, as 
there had been a fall in the demand for primary products 
due to their more economic utilization, technological 
progress, re-processing of scrap materials and the substitu­
tion of synthetic for natural products. 

62. Turning to the less developed countries, and 
particularly those of Asia and the Far East, he said that, 
generally speaking, 1955 had been a good year, the gold 
and foreign exchange holdings of all of them, except 
Burma and the Philippines, having increased. Notwith­
standing, their over-all share in world exports had grown 
but slightly, mainly because the range of their exports 
was narrow and because they were particularly vulnerable 
to world market conditions and short-term price fluctua­
tions. The economies of those countries being extremely 
sensitive to world conditions, the favourable business 
cycle in industrial countries was not enough to gua­
rantee the stability of their export markets, which was 
one of the principal reasons for the unstable economic 
sit~ation throughout Asia and the Far East. The pre­
carious balance-of-payments situation of most of those 
countries, which led to import restriction affecting price 
levels, wages and costs and thus reduced their ability 
to compete in world markets, was the cause of constant 
concern, as was also their agricultural situation. Agri­
cultural production was still 14 per cent below the 1934-
1938 average (excluding China) so that dcsoite the 
fairly general improvement noted in the W~rld Economic 
Survey 19!5, there had been relatively little progress in 
the unendmg struggle to raise per capita income above the 
already low pre-war levels. 

63. The figures given in the Survey showed that the 
progress made by industrial countries had not been 
equalled_ by t_h~ ~sian ~ountrics either in respect of 
econo~1c s~ab_1hzat1on or m respect of growth, and it was 
ve~ d1squ1etm¥ that, during a generally favourable 
penod, economic and social conditions in Asia and the 
Far East should not have been so satisfactory as else­
where, and that the gap between their living standards 
and those of more advanced countries was wider than 
ever. The prime remedy for that serious situation was 
!he de_velopi:nent of the less advanced countries which, 
m th~ir various plans, were all striving to redress the 
one-side_dness of their economic structure, to diversify 
pr~duction an~ to develop their manifold resources. 
U fortunately, m the short run all those tasks imposed 
a heavy burden on their often precarious finances. 
However well devised and executed their plans mir.ht be 
they wo Id b b ~' ' u never c a le to pull themselves up by their 
own efforts, because for historical reasons they were at 
th \ r_nomcnt largely dependent upon financial and 
tee meal help from abroad. What was needed w·1s ·1 
more ev d · ' ' 
h 

en an cqmtablc growth of prosperity throughout 
t e world. 

64. The second remedy was international action to 
aeceler~te a steady flow of capital to less-developed 
countries, and in that connexion he drew attention to 

the i!11p?r~ant recommendations made in the final com­
munique issued at the end of the Asian-African Con­
ference h~ld at Bandung in April 1955. Some related to 
co-operat10n between the Asian and African countries 
t~em_selves, ~ut others related to international co-opera­
tion m the widest _sense, and called for the early establish­
ment of the Special United Nations Fund for Economic 
Development (SUNFED), larger allocations to Asian 
an~ African countries from the resources of the Inter­
national Bank_ for Reconstr~ction and Development, 
and the establishment of an mternational finance cor­
poration which would undertake, inter alia, equity 
investment. 

65. The Conference had also recommended that collec­
tive action should be taken to stabilize international 
p~ices of and de~and for primary commodities through 
bilateral _and multilateral arrangements, and the adoption 
of a umfied approach, so far as was practicable and 
desirable, by the Commission on International Com­
modity Trade and other international bodies active in the 
commodity field. The Council and its organs had a 
most important part to play in the solution of those 
problems, so vital to the less developed countries which, 
at the moment, depended for their very life on the export 
of primary commodities. Events in 1955 had proved the 
wisdom of those recommendations, because, as he had 
shown, favourable business conditions in the industrialized 
countries did not provide a panacea for the ills of the 
less advanced. More far-reaching international action 
and better guarantees of stable prices of raw materials 
were therefore needed. Even if the highly industrialized 
countries succeeded in overcoming inflationary or defla­
tionary tendencies, and the present upward swing con­
tinued, the benefits to the less developed countries would 
still be relatively small. Hence, if it was really the inten­
tion of the former to narrow the gap, they should follow 
the course advocated at the Bandung Conference. 

66. The relaxation of political tension was to be wel­
comed, but economic difficulties were still formidable, 
particularly to the less developed countries, and gave 
little sign of abating. It was accordingly in the enligh­
tened self-interest of the highly industrialized countries 
themselves that that state of affairs should not persist. 
Governments, whose prime responsibility it was to 
combat inflationary and deflationary tendencies, were 
devising ways of doing so, but those tendencies also 
affected the economies of other countries, so that what 
our world of today in its close economic interdependence 
needed above all was an effective international co-opera­
tion aiming at mastering, by means of international con­
sultations and combined efforts and action, all the exigen­
cies, not only of a slump, in which case such co-operation 
might be taken for granted, but also of a favourab)e 
business cycle, in order to promote the balanced economic 
growth of the world. The achievements of the Benelux 
countries and the efforts of the countries of western 
Europe to achieve European economic integration within 
the framework of the Organization for European Eco­
nomic Co-operation showed that such aims were not 
beyond reach. 
67. World economic expansion also called for an in­
crease in world trade, so that certain countries could 
import goods which they did not yet produce themselves, 



70 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

together with equipment for exploiting their natural 
resources, for which there would be an increasing de­
mand both at home and abroad, particularly as the raw 
material resources of the more highly industrialized 
countries approached exhaustion. One method would 
be the liberalization of world trade on the lines followed 
in western Europe, where 85.8 per cent of intra-European 
trade in that area had been liberalized by the end of 
1955. However, what was increasingly possible for the 
internal trade of those countries and their trade with the 
dollar countries with the help of substantial financial, 
economic and monetary assistance was not at the moment 
feasible for many others. He understood why large sums 
had been devoted to Europe's pressing needs for recon­
struction after the war, and to the further consolidation 
of its economic strength, but now that remarkably rapid 
progress had been achieved through large-scale aid there 
was every ground for advocating a policy of free world 
trade in order to open up outlets for the world's ever­
growing industrial production, which was giving rise to 
intense competition between the principal industrial 
exporting countries. 

68. The position of the less developed countries, some 
of which were in the initial stages of industrialization, 
was entirely different. Some were endeavouring to make 
good the devastations of war and its aftermath without 
the substantial assistance accorded to western European 
countries, and might have expected that after the period 
during which priority had had to be given to Europe's 
needs, they would receive well organized international 
aid on an adequate scale. However, they had received 
instead technical assistance, economic and financial aid 
having been left rather to private foreign investment, 
which, by its very nature, could not provide adequately 
for development at the rapid rate required. He reserved 
the right to comment at greater length on that point in 
connexion with item 5 of the agenda (financing of eco­
nomic development). It was not surprising that the less 
developed countries should be first and foremost con­
cerned with their own economic and industrial develop­
ment, and that the expansion of free world trade could 
not as yet constitute the main goal of their trade policy. 
They were compelled to protect, within reasonable limits, 
their new industries, established to offset the effects of 
their mainly agricultural economics, in order to safe­
guard themselves from foreign competition, at least 
during the early stages, and the composition and pattern 
of their foreign trade would have to be determined by 
their principal domestic objectives and needs. Even if 
they had wished to buy all the manufactured goods 
offered to them and to follow a liberal import policy to 
cover their vast requirements, their foreign exchange 
holdings would have proved utterly inadequate. Hence 
they could not avoid restricting imports, and planning 
carefully how to spend their limited foreign exchange 
resources on the capital goods and essentials without 
which they could not survive or make progress. Such 
an import policy would not affect the total value, but 
merely the pattern, of their imports. 

69. It had been argued that the aim of the international 
division of labour and stabilization should be achieved 
through the liberalization of trade, a multilateral pay­
ments system and currency convertibility. While he 

agreed in principle with that argument, he must point 
out that such a course would give rise to certain diffi­
culties. Problems recently encountered in the United 
Kingdom and the United States of America showed that 
there were certain limitations on a policy of liberaliza­
tion, even between highly industrialized countries, so 
long as there were noticeable differences in the standards 
of living and, what was more important, in the wage 
scales and productivity of the trading partners. At the 
moment, completely free international trade seemed pos­
sible only for some countries, and mainly in high-quality 
goods or goods of a very special character. 

70. Multilatcralism was closely related to free con­
vertibility, a problem to which no solution had yet been 
found. Though restricted convertibility, in the case of 
sterling, the Netherlands guilder and the West-German 
mark, had been achieved full convertibility still seemed 
some way off, and would require a sound and stable 
balance between the dollar and other currency areas, 
strong sterling, and the abrogation of any system en­
tailing discrimination against other countries. Special 
preference systems violated the principle of free trade, 
and substituted free trade between groups of countries 
for free trade between individual countries. 

71. A further expansion of international trade, of course, 
also depended on an improvement in the political climate, 
and rapid progress on a world-wide scale could hardly 
be expected so long as tension persisted. His delegation 
was therefore following with interest the efforts recently 
made within ECE for improving economic and financial 
relations between eastern and western Europe. 

72. Indonesia had faith in the United Nations as a 
valuable forum where all international-including 
economic and financial-problems could be discusse~, 
and where effective action could be planned. His 
Government accordingly hoped that the growing demand 
generated by expansion in the highly industriali~ed 
countries would not disturb the movement of the pnces 
of certain commodities, and that the terms of trade 
between primary producing countries and manufacturing 
countries would remain fair and stable, so that the former 
could carry out their economic and social development 
programmes, for which purpose exports wer~ of _great 
importance. To the less advanced countries, rnt_er­
national commodity trade presented a problem callmg 
for top priority at the highest political level if ~orld 
economic progress and stability were to be aclueved. 
If all members of the Council shared that conviction and 
acted accordingly, he was certain that many difficulties 
with which the countries of Asia and Africa, and other 
less advanced ones, were faced at their present stage of 
development would prove to be surmountable, ~n~ he 
welcomed the evidence that the highly industnahzed 
countries were becoming increasingly, if not yet adequate­
ly, aware of the needs of others. Some steps had already 
been taken, and recipient countries were grateful for 
technical assistance and financial aid, but both were at 
present being provided on too limited a scale to enable 
the gap to which he had referred to be bridged. Thus, 
even during periods when business trends were favourab~e, 
it was urgently necessary to assist less developed countries 
by the establishment of such institutions as SUNFED, 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 71 

by stabilizing raw material prices and by any other 
suitable means. 

73. Mr. NEBOT VELASCO (Ecuador) first congratu­
lated the Secretariat on its excellent report, World 
Economic Survey 1955 (E/2864), and ECLA on its annual 
report (E/2883), from which he would single out a few 
pro bl ems of particular importance. 
74. Economic progress during the last ten years had 
been remarkable, but still inadequate for the under­
developed countries in which two-thirds of humanity 
lived. To improve the living standards of those peoples, 
whose prospects for the future were at the moment very 
gloomy, real international co-operation was needed. 
In brief, the under-developed countries had not succeeded 
in increasing their production to any significant extent, 
and had not achieved full employment. The increase in 
per capita income was inadequate, and more rapid 
progress was hardly to be expected in the near future. 
Some progress had certainly been made, but since most 
programmes had to be carried out by governments 
themselves, permanent budgetary deficits ensued, making 
it impossible to complete the programmes in their 
entirety. Furthermore, a tendency to inflation had be­
come apparent in those countries, and restrictions on 
international trade had led to a reduction in trade, 
not only in absolute terms but also in relation to world 
production. 

75. The improvement in the international balance was 
thus not due, as might have been desired, to an increased 
integration of the world economy, but largely to a greater 
degree of compartmentalization within the various econo­
mic regions. 

· 76. In the industrialized countries, per capita income had 
increased by 45 per cent over the past ten years, whereas 
in the under-developed countries it had risen by only 
about 5 per cent on an average. There were two reasons 
for that disparity. First, the under-developed countries 
had developed more slowly than the industrial countries, 
industrial development in particular having been inade­
quate; secondly, population had increased more rapidly 
in the under-developed countries than elsewhere. 

77. In Latin America, the constant increase in the 
output of primary commodities, and the decline in demand 
and the fall in prices had created serious difficulties, and 
had led to a disequilibrium in trade, the counter-measures 
for which, such as the restriction of imports, had not yet 
proved efficacious. Thus the differences between the 
living standards of the developed countries and the under­
developed countries where the annual increase in the 
birth rate was 2.9 per cent was becoming more marked, 
and the resultant lack of balance could become serious 
in the near future. 

78. Turning to the financing of the development of the 
under-developed countries, he showed that capital 
investment was inadequate, but doubted whether it could 
be appreciably increased in the next few years. Yet, 
according to ECLA's calculations, the countries of Latin 
America needed capital at the rate of $2,200 million a 
year, although the average annual amount of public and 
private investment had never been more than $600 miHion 
during the last four years. 

79. As exporters of agricultural products, the Latin­
American countries were faced with two new and very 
serious problems: that of surpluses in the developed 
countries, where improvements in farming methods had 
led to an increase in output, and that of the use of syn­
thetic products instead of certain natural ones. Those 
two phenomena, which tended to lead to a fall in the ever 
fluctuating prices of primary commodities on the interna­
tional markets, had very seriously affected the economies 
of the under-developed countries, whose national revenue 
and balance of payments had been affected. Attempts 
must be made to find an effective solution to such prob­
lems, which were a source of great concern to Latin 
America. 
80. The existence of surplus stocks of primary commo­
dities and instability in prices had adverse repercussions, 
both economic and social, for Latin America. Thus it 
was that during the second half of 1954 and throughout 
1955 the trade balances of the Latin American countries 
had declined. The fall in the prices of rubber and coffee 
which had affected sixteen countries had been particularly 
marked, whereas the fall in the prices of other products 
had been somewhat less. In ECLA's opinion such dis­
equilibrium would constitute a serious threat if allowed 
to persist. 
81. The rising trend in the prices of manufactured 
products, added to the fall in the prices of primary com­
modities, further aggravated the situation in the under­
developed countries. 
82. A low rate of national savings, due to low per capita 
incomes, was also preventing the Latin American coun­
tries from developing their potential resources. Capital 
investment had fallen from 18 to about 13.5 per cent of 
the total national income, and was still falling. The same 
trend was to be observed in the renewal of former invest­
ments. That situation was alarming, and the measures 
taken to meet it had not yielded the expected results. 
Steps taken to ensure the stability of domestic prices, 
such as foreign-exchange control and new monetary 
policies designed to combat inflation, had made diffi­
culties for production, and had often discouraged exports. 
83. In Ecuador, the national income from agriculture 
had been 10 per cent lower in 1955 than in 1954. The 
standard of living of the population showed scant im­
provement, having risen by only 11.3 per cent in five 
years, an average of 2.3 per cent per annum. The level 
of economic activity having suffered from the fall in earn­
ings from exports, Ecuador had been forced to adopt a 
policy of stimulating exports and restricting imports, 
and, since no increase in exports was expected, would 
have to continue to do so in 1956. It was obliged to 
follow an import restriction policy even though such a 
policy was harmful to its development. 
84. Better balance must be achieved between all aspects 
of the economic development of the various countries. 
Any steps to that end must, however, take into account 
the struggle against inflation. The Latin American 
countries could not develop successfully without first 
solving the structural problems inherent in their econo­
mies. 
85. It was to be hoped that the reports submitted to the 
Council would enable sound decisions to be taken to 



72 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

solve the problems of the under-developed countries, 
especially the problem of improving the living standards 
of their peoples. 

86. Mr. STIKKER (Netherlands) said that, in ponder­
ing the road travelled during the past decade, it was 
striking to remember the spirit of unbounded optimism 
that had prevailed among the statesmen who had 
created the United Nations. Mr. Cordell Hull had 
said in 1944: "When a general international organiza­
tion, based on the principle of the sovereign equality of 
all peace-loving States, has been established, there will 
no longer be need for spheres of intlucncc, for allowances, 
for balance of power or for any other of the special 
arrangements through which, in the unhappy past, the 
nations have striven to safeguard their security or to 
promote their interests." Experience had shown that 
on the political plane peaceful co-operation between 
sovereign and equal States was not so easily to be achieved, 
that not all countries were willing to play their part, and 
that so long as they remained sovereign and were pre­
sumed equal there was hardly any means of forcing them 
to co-operate. Hence tensions had persisted, plans for 
disarmament had failed and the United Nations had 
played but a limited part in world affairs. To remedy 
that situation the first need was to restore, or rather to 
establish, confidence; but that was a state of mind not to 
be created by words, but only by deeds and, in the absence 
of the latter, countries would continue to live in an atmos­
phere of distrust which pervaded not only politics, but 
also the United Nations' economic and social activities. 

87. However, if allowance were made for that factor, 
the situation with regard to economic development, if 
considered independently, was a little brighter. During 
the first five years of the past decade, the havoc wrought 
by the war had been repaired and the more advanced 
countries had been able to turn their attention to the 
needs of the less fortunate ones and to initiate a vast and 
growing undertaking to improve the latter's standards 
of living and production. 

88. The reason for the greater success of the economic 
as distinct from the political enterprises of the United 
Nations was, first, that political co-operation had a long 
history, and had in the past usually taken the form of 
wartime alliances to resist a common enemy. Economic 
co-operation, on the other hand-and he had in mind 
neither the valuable studies initiated under the League 
of Nations nor the occasional pre-war international 
conferences, such as the World Economic Conferences 
of 1927 and 1933, but the systematic work being done 
in the Council-was a new development, a continuous 
struggle against poverty, disease and ignorance with which 
there could be no truce, for they threatened the whole of 
mankind. 

89. Secondly, the aims of foreign policy were to safe­
guard the State against possible attack, so that it vacillated 
between confidence in and mistrust of the intentions of 
other States. The study of economic and social policies, 
however, aimed as it was at safeguarding the world against 
the consequences of natural disasters, could be firmly 
based on a common knowledge of the enemy to be 
defeated. All were obliged to fight in the same cause, 
and were therefore free to trust one another and to 

concert action on the basis of common understanding 
Tho~gh he was not s~ naive as to suggest that there wa~ 
nothm? but harmony 111 the economic and social spheres 
they did differ from the political in that they called fo; 
practical solutions and lent themselves to the scientific 
ap~roach, w~ich, in spite of the constant presence of 
national sclf-mtcrcst, could result in effective measures. 
For those reasons, he believed that the prospects of the 
Council's being able to fulfil its task were more hopeful, 
but he regretted that the better understanding of the 
problems of others, and general confidence, were being 
frustrated by certain States with centrally planned 
economics, which were withholding information. On 
the other hand, one of the gains won during the past 
decade was the acceptance and understanding by other 
countries of responsibility for "the promotion of the 
economic and social advancement of all peoples", and 
particularly those of the under-developed countries. 

90. The overwhelming mass of documents prepared each 
year by the Secretariat for the discussion on the world 
economic situation placed the Council in a dilemma: 
either the Council could discuss it superficially, or each 
member could comment on particular aspects of special 
concern to his country. In the latter event the general 
debate lost much of its interest and the Secretariat's 
efforts were not rewarded by the response they merited. 
The different approach of devoting more than half the 
space to a special subject, adopted in the present World 
Economic Sun-cy 1955, might o!Tcr a way out. He 
believed that in future even less space might be devoted 
to the analysis of recent trends, in order to focus attention 
on real matters of principle, and hoped that it would be 
possible to select a suitable subject of general interest 
every year. The way in which the Secretary-General 
had devoted primary attention to commodity stabilization 
in his introductory statement suggested that he share? the 
opinion that a useful precedent had been established 
which ought to be followed up. For example, transp_ort, 
as an important factor in economic development, might 
be taken as the main theme of one of the future surveys, 
because such international agencies as were at present 
dealing with various transport questions did so largely 
from a technical and regional point of view, world 
aspects, as a rule, being touched upon only in~identa!ly. 
Transport was a subject which had many mterest!ng 
facets both for developed and under-developed countnes, 
so that a more thorough discussion of it in the context 
of the world economic situation as a whole might be 
advantageous. That was only a suggestion, and his 
delegation would be glad to consider others. 

91. Commenting on the question of balanced growth, 
which lent itself to thorough examination and was the 
subject of the introduction to the Sun•ey, he said that in 
modern economies there was no other problem that was 
so great a test of the ability of economists and administra­
tors alike. The days were p.ist when it could be argued 
that economic forces would always tend to bring about 
equilibrium, and the lesson had been learned from bitter 
experience that they had to be manipulated if the kind of 
equilibrium considered to be the ideal was to be achieved. 
Naturally, opinion on the true nature of that equilibrium 
differed, and his country was among those which felt 
that the right equilibrium was one in which the initiative 



934th Meeting - 16 July 1956 73 

of the individual had free play in the attainment of 
freedom. Others laid less stress on individual well-being, 
and yet others on the rapid consolidation of national 
power. The Survey gave some idea of how_ each country 
was trying in its own way to solve the riddle,_ and he 
proposed to make his observations on the basis of _the 
classification of countries adopted in the Survey, which, 
though open to criticism, was not easy to replace, because 
of the elusive shades of distinction between various 
systems. 
92. Turning first to the " centrally planned economies ", 
he said that the lack of detailed statistics might have 
been the reason for the relative brevity of chapter 3 in 
part I of the Survey, and again stressed the importance 
for the Council's work of full and reliable data. He 
hoped that the improvement in the exchange of informa­
tion between members of ECE would continue. In the 
meantime, owing to the lack of adequate information, 
it was extremely difficult to judge objectively whether 
economic growth in those countries, which was often 
expressed in terms of percentages and indices rather 
than in absolute figures, could be considered as well 
balanced. According to the criteria normally applied 
in analysing the economies of the western countries, the 
answer would probably be in the negative. There were 
also indications that the governments themselves of such 
countries were dissatisfied, in some important respects, 
with certain economic trends. It could not be denied 
that during recent years important changes in economic 
policy had taken place at comparatively short intervals. 
For instance, in 1953 there had been a sudden change 
in favour of the production of consumption goods, 
whereas in 1955 there had been a swing back in favour 
of heavy industry. Other symptoms showing a lack of 
balance had manifested themselves in the serious eco­
nomic difficulties which Czechoslovakia, Hungary and 
Poland were at present experiencing, and the dispropor­
tion between industrial and agricultural growth in most 
countries of the group was well known. 

93. There was, of course, no single and simple yard­
stick for measuring the success of any government's 
economic policy. The Secretariat had examined in detail 
various aspects of economic growth, concentrating its 
attention particularly on internal financial equilibrium 
~nd external balance-of-payments problems. He did not 
intend to comment on that interesting analysis, preferring 
to approach the question from a somewhat dilTcrcnt 
angle and to examine where, and to what extent, eco­
nomic policy in the different categories of country had 
taken account of the interests of others, and of the world 
cc~nomy as a whole, because he believed that aspect, 
which had been ignored by the authors of the S11nc1• 
to be of particular importance in a discussion coveri1;~ 
the entire world. 

94. So far as the centrally planned economics were 
conce:ncd, the answer to his question was regrettably 
n_ot difficult to find. The policy of economic sclf-suf1i­
c1ency pursued by communist governments was contrary 
to the harmonious development of the world economy 
and those governments did not deny that the interests of 
others carried little weight in their councils. Mr. Kruscht­
chev, i~ a statement quoted in the S11rrcy (p. 89), had 
emphasized the importance of economic co-operation 

but had confined his support explicitly to the interests 
of "the socialist camp as a whole". Though it might 
be true that a national policy directed towards the 
maximum expans_io_n of the domestic economy indirectly, 
and perhaps unwillmgly, served the interests of the world 
as a whole, that pre-supposed a certain similarity between 
the aims pursued, which in important respects was 
absent as between countries of the Soviet bloc and 
others. The principal object of economic policy in the 
industrial countries was the well-being of their citizens, 
but that did not appear to be so in the countries with 
a centrally planned economy, which paid scant heed to 
the welfare and human dignity of the individual. 

95. In the light of those factors, he could only conclude 
that the economic growth in the latter group of countries 
had not been sufficiently balanced in the western sense, 
since they had not adequately served the interests of the 
peoples of the world. 

96. With regard to the " industrial countries ", the 
outstanding feature seemed to be the continuous expan­
sion of production, consumption and investment which 
had occurred after their recovery from the effects of the 
war, and particularly since 1948. It was understandable 
that that phenomenal growth should provoke some 
anxiety in certain quarters, but he wondered whether 
there was any justification for the ominous parallels 
with 1929 drawn by those only too ready to believe that 
history repeated itself. 
97. The analysis in the Survey of the situation in those 
countries certainly did not suggest that they were beset 
by business recession. Without indulgin~ i~ an~ fal~e 
optimism, it was clear that the economic situation 111 

1956 was entirely different from that obtaining in 1929. 
Post-war reconstruction and the satisfaction of accumu­
lated demand mentioned in the Survey as important 
factors in th; state of current business, had certainly 
contributed to the boom, but present conditions were, 
pcrhaps,just as much due to a number ?f e_ntirely differ­
ent factors such as high investment m mdustry and 
housing, i,;evitably high defence expenditu~e, measures 
to improve the standard of living of the workmg ela3s:s­
causing large increases in production and consumpt10n, 
particularly of durable consumer goods-an~ a con­
sidcra blc growth in international trade established be­
tween developed countries. All those factors_ had helped 
to strengthen economic equilibrium, a1~d _mrght -~e d~: 
scribed in the American phrase as "bu1lt-111 stab_rlizers 
which had underpinned the economy and m~de rt m~re 
or less foolproof. Consequently, the industnal countnes 
were facing a situation which was almost the reverse ~f 
that of the 1930s which had inspired Lord Keynes s 
theory that spending and investment should be encour­
aged as a means of ovcrcomi1!g dcflat_ion an~ uncmpl~y­
mcnt. The dangers confronting the mdustnal countnct 
·11 the moment were not deflation and uncmploymen , 
' d · fl . The but too high a level of employment, an 111 ation. . . 
restrictive measures taken by the monetary _authonties 
of various industrial countries were clear evidence ti~! 
those dangers were realized, but they would I_1ave to 

· · t ~ cc m normal taken circumspectly, otherwise 111 er crcn_ . 
financial relations might threaten exist1_ng. cc?n?nuc 
structures. A note of warning against th~ mdts~nmmate 
use of such methods had been sounded 111 the mtroduc-



74 Economic and Social Council - Twenty-second Session 

tion to the Survey, and the distinction between demand 
inflation, which required one set of remedies, and cost 
inflation, which called for another, should be borne in 
mind by all. 

98. In his observations on the third group, the" primary 
producing countries ", he intended to confine himself 
to those which were less developed. The problem of 
balanced growth varied from one to another, and the 
considerable differences between the economic outlook 
of, for instance, the producers of cereals, of staple fibres, 
of minerals and of petroleum were abundantly clear from 
the Survey. Broadly speaking, it seemed that countries 
with a diversified economy were better off than those 
which were dependent upon one or few products. The 
Survey laid particular stress on the widening gap between 
economic growth in industrial and that in under-developed 
countries. That regrettable circumstance should stimu­
late the nations to find means of promoting the economic 
growth of the latter, one of which means, as he had 
suggested at the twenty-first session (906th meeting), 
was the application of modern planning techniques to 
ensure that the best possible use was made of all available 
and potential resources. Planning techniques were 
usually worked out by economists and technicians, 
but once the plans had been approved by governments it 
still remained to make them acceptable to the general 
public, which must be educated to understand the objec­
tives aimed at. 

99. It was convincingly argued in the Survey that bal­
anced growth must often be preceded by growth in key 
economic sectors, one of which was regarded in some 
countries as the production of food for domestic use. 
If_ that were considered as an aim in itself, its effect 
might not be very far-reaching, but it could sometimes 
provide a useful starting-point, because it would require 
tools, fertilizers and other industrial goods which would 
have to be produced within the country concerned. 
Measures to increase domestic food production might 
have the triple advantage of improving nutritional 
standards and the balance of payments and of raising 
the purchasing power of the rural population. 

100. A primary requirement for many under-developed 
countries was to build up an intra-structure; but the choice 
of the right one would call for careful planning if uneco­
nomic investment was to be avoided. 

IOI. It was now an accepted fact that industrialization 
was vital to the under-developed countries; but the 
questions were: to what extent it should be carried, of 
what kind it should be and how it could be accomplished 
with a maximum of human freedom and in the best 
possible social conditions. Industrial investment required 
even more careful preparation than investment in agri­
culture, because the amount of fixed capital which would 
be wasted in case of failure was substantially larger. 
The ~urvcy, without suggesting an alternative, stressed 
that m the case of many under-developed countries 
comparative prices were not a guide to what should be 
done. 

102. The question of comparative prices and of indus­
trialization was directly related to that of import policy. 
A country in course of development would usually 

Printed in Switzerland 

wish to protect its infant industries in some mea 
d . . d d .d . sure 

an 1t rcmamc t~ cc1 e m each case to what extent 
a~~. for how long 1t sho~ild do so. Development possi­
b1httes would be greatly increased if such countries could 
c?unt on stable a~d remunerative prices for their prin­
cipal_ exports! which, for a long time to come, would 
consist of primary products; and there the observations 
on commodity stabilization made by the Secretary­
Gencral, the Executive Secretary of ECAFE and the 
representatives of Indonesia and Ecuador we;e of par­
ticular relevance. Although, on the whole, the terms of 
trade of the under-developed countries had improved 
during the past decade, there had nevertheless been 
considerable fluctuations in the prices of individual 
products, and it was vitally important that all countries 
should strive to secure the price stabilization of certain 
primary materials, which would guarantee to developed 
countries a more or less stable income, thus providing 
a sound basis for long-term estimates of what they could 
hope to import in order to maintain their rate of expansion. 
Such a steady income would also provide some capital 
for further development, but, if it was to be used for that 
purpose, there must be an adequate taxation system and 
conditions favourable to investment. That might sound 
like a counsel of perfection, because it was a we11-known 
fact that many under-developed countries lacked the 
means for capital formation. But there, the only remedy 
was foreign investment, which could best be provided 
through the United Nations, thus avoiding the disad­
vantages of bilateral arrangements. That was why his 
Govcrmcnt firmly supported the creation of SUNFED. 

103. In conclusion, he said that every country must 
first and foremost bear in mind the growing influence 
which its economic plans and policy had on the condi­
tions in, needs and possibilities of other countries, not 
only within the same group but within either of the other 
two. If that fact were ignored, disaster might we11 
follow. The world was still far from the necessary unity 
and co-operation, but, as was stated in the introduction 
to the Survey: " For the first time in a generation trade 
restrictions arc being progressively removed, especially 
by industrial countries .... " He could have wished that 
that process had been more rapid and thorough, ~ith 
the abolition not only of the more immediate barriers 
to international trade, such as tariffs and quantitative 
restrictions, but also of the many forms of indirect 
protection that still existed, such as state trading, dual 
pricing, flag discrimination, etc., which continued to 
prevent the full deployment of economic resources. It 
was even more serious to learn from the Survey that 
" much of the improvement in the international balance 
which has been attained to date reflects not increased 
integration of the world economy, but rather a greater 
degree of compartmentalization of regions". Such 
painful truths raised the question whether, perhaps, the 
world was not, in fact, composed of a dollar area, a 
sterling area, a European Payments Union area and a 
Soviet bloc. Nevertheless, although things were far from 
perfect, an effort was being made to comprehend the 
reasons for those imperfections, to eliminate them and 
to work together to build something better. 

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 

19488-August 1956-1,310 




